IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

REGINALD WINGFIELD, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No. SC00-250

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

LT No. 98-4895

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RAYMOND DIX Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0919896

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF TYPE USED

I certify the size and style of type used in this brief is Courier 12 point, a font that is proportionally spaced.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of four volumes. The first, Vol.I, pp.1-141, contains court records and motions and shall be referenced herein as "IR.___."

Transcripts of the proceedings of motion hearings, the trial and sentencing of appellant are found in three consecutive volumes, labeled II (pp.1-128), III (pp. 129-317), and IV (pp.318-337), and referenced herein as "IIT.____," "IIIT.____," and "IVT.____," respectively.

References to the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal (which is reproduced in the Appendix of this brief) will be designated "A," followed by the appropriate page number.

Petitioner, Reginald Wingfield, was the defendant and appellant below and shall be referred to herein as Petitioner or by proper name. Respondent, the State of Florida was the prosecution and appellee below and shall be referred to herein as the State. All other references are self-explanatory or shall be explained herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, Reginald Wingfield, appeals convictions and sentences arising from a jury trial October 5 and 6, 1998, before Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Judge J. Rodgers Padgett, in Hillsborough County, Florida. His appeal to the Second District Court of Appeal resulted in the reduction of one count, the affirmance of others, and certification to this Court based on a direct conflict in opinion between the District Courts of Appeal.

charges

Petitioner was charged by information with the following crimes (including changes as noted) on pp. IR. 17-23:

- * 1) grand theft motor vehicle (sect. 812.014(2)(c)6, Fla. Stat. (1997), 3rd degree felony)(FOUND NOT GUILTY, IR.33, 62, 65);
- * 2, 3) two counts of aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer (deadly weapon (vehicle)) (sect. 784.07(2)(d), Fla. Stat. (1997), 1st degree felony);
- * 4) armed burglary of a dwelling (sect. 810.02(2)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997), 1st degree felony punishable by life)(ARMED DELETED 10/5/98)(IR.17)(IIT.85);
- * 5) aggravated assault (sect. 784.021, Fla. Stat. (1997), 3d degree felony (NOL PROS' 10/5/98)(IR.17)(IIT.85);
- * 6) (felony) criminal mischief (sect. 806.13(1)(b)3, Fla. Stat. (1997), 3rd degree felony);
- * 7) obstruction or opposing an officer with violence (sect. 843.01, Fla. Stat. (1997), 3d degree felony);
- * 8) battery (sect. 784.03(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1997), 1st degree

misdemeanor); and

* 9) driving with no valid driver's license (sect. 322.03, Fla. Stat. (1997), a 2nd degree misdemeanor)(NOL PROS' 10/6/98, IR.31, 64)(IIIT.233).

jury question and verdict

After retiring the jury asked when was the truck Petitioner was driving was reported stolen, and when it was found. They were told that they would receive no further evidence and that they would have to render a verdict on what evidence they had. (IR.61)(IIIT.312). Petitioner was found not guilty as to count 1, grand theft auto. (IR.33)(IIIT.62, 65). However he was found guilty as charged as to the remaining counts. (IR.33)(II.63-64)(Count 9 X'd through on verdict form, IR.64).

On October 5, 1998, the first day of trial, the State filed notice that, upon conviction, Petitioner was to be treated as an habitual felony offender and/or a prison release reoffender. (IR.29-30).

motion for judgment of acquittal / new trial

Petitioner not only moved for judgment of acquittal during trial based on failure of the state to prove its case, he filed a written motion post-trial. (IR.66-67). The motion was heard prior to sentencing, November 9, 1998, (IVT.326-327) and denied. (IVT.327)(IR.66).

motion to declare sect. 775.082(8), Fla. Stat. (1997) unconstitutional

Petitioner filed a written motion (IR.68-90) and argued prior to sentencing, (IVT.320-325), that the Prison Releasee Reoffender

Act was unconstitutional for seven reasons which shall be addressed in detail in Petitioner's argument, below. (denied, IVT.326)(IR.68).

sentence

Petitioner's sentencing score sheet indicated a permitted sentencing range of 78.45 to 130.75 months imprisonment, with a recommendation of 104.6 months. (IR.113). The trial court, finding that Mr. Wingfield met the criteria to be sentenced as a prison releasee reoffender, found also that it, the trial court, had no choice in finding he qualified, and in imposing sentence under the act - of thirty years in prison on counts 2 and 3, concurrent. He was also sentenced to 15 years prison on the burglary, and five on the criminal mischief, all concurrent with the two thirty year sentences. And, he received "time served" on the simple battery. (IVT.335-336). The court expressed itself concerning the sentence as follows:

THE COURT: Let the record reflect then that the sentence is about to be imposed is (sic) going to be imposed by a court who has been told and believes that it has no choice in the sentence to be imposed. So that should it ever come back to us, the appellate court will know that.

(IVT.335).

Thus, on November 9, 1998, Petitioner was adjudicated as to counts 2, 3, 4, 6, 7, and 8, various fines and fees were imposed, and he was sentenced to thirty years in prison. (IR.115-133).

Notice of appeal was filed December 9, 1998, (IR.136), citing denial of Petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal, refusal to declare the Prison Releasee Reoffender statute unconstitutional,

improper admission of evidence, and the judgment and sentence as acts to be reviewed. (IR.137).

facts adduced at trial

Petitioner was driving a purple, small sized, pickup truck (IIT.107, 118) he had "rented" in exchange for a couple rocks of crack cocaine. (IIIT.242-243). The person who had "rented" it to him later reported it stolen.

Police officers, working from a "hot sheet" (IIT.106, 117) describing stolen vehicles, missing persons, things to watch for, etc. (IIT.117), observed the pickup, (IIT.107) called for backup, (IIT.108), and began following it in their marked police cruiser, (IIT.107), without using their lights or sirens. (IIT.108, 126)(IIIT.143, 145). They followed the truck for thirty seconds to a minute, (IIT.109, 118), from a distance of 20 to 40 feet, during which time Petitioner made no attempt to elude the officers. (IIIT.143-144).

Petitioner noticed he was being followed, (IIT.109)(IIIT.243), believed the officers were after him because of an outstanding warrant, (IIIT.248-249), and he had no valid driver's license in his possession. (IIIT.243, 249).

Shortly after turning onto a residential street with the police car close behind, Petitioner stopped the truck. Petitioner testified he stopped short and was bumped by the cruiser, (IIIT.244) then accelerated to go forward, but found he was in reverse. (IIIT.245). The truck's backup lights came on, (IIT.111, 121) (IIIT.138, 145) the right rear tire spun, (IIT.111)(IIIT.138,

145), making lots of squealing noise, (IIIT.146), and the police cruiser and truck came together, impacting such that the vehicles became entangled. (IIT.112-113)(IIIT.138, 159-160, 164, 176).

The police driver testified that he put the cruiser in park, but was still going backwards. (IIT.113). However, the driver told the officer investigating the incident that he had left the car in gear and attempted to push the truck forward. (IIIT.204). The passenger said they were still in drive - giving it the gas so as to overcome the pickup truck. (IIIT.147). The police passenger also said Mr. Wingfield looked in the mirror as though aiming the truck. (IIT.121-122). The officer testified Petitioner said he knew he was being followed when he saw the officer speak into the microphone, (IIIT.141), and "that the incidents that occurred after were purposely." (sic)(IIIT.141). However, Petitioner testified that he did not intentionally ram the police car. (IIIT.245, 249). The police passenger alerted other officers that they had been rammed. (IIIT.139).

Petitioner and his passenger jumped out of the pickup and ran in opposite directions. (IIT.101)(IIIT.139, 160, 167, 245). The two officers in the cruiser drew their weapons, the passenger taking chase immediately and yelling for Petitioner to stop, (IIIT.148), the driver securing the vehicles and then joining the chase. (IIT.114, 124)(II.139-140). The driver testified that the truck was still running, but that it was not in reverse. (IIT.123). Another officer testified he later removed the keys, and that the truck was in reverse. (IIIT.200, 202).

While running in the alley between apartments, Petitioner bumped or pushed a small boy who fell to the ground. (IIIT.168). However, Petitioner testified he did not remember the child or bumping into the child. (IIIT.246). Fourteen year old Toni Hardy said she saw Petitioner push the child (IIIT.161) or run into him while running. (IIIT.168). The child who was the subject of this battery count, eleven year old Rico Balcom, stated he did not know if he was pushed or if he slipped and fell when getting out of Petitioner's way. (IIIT.172-173, 176).

Petitioner testified he was attempting to escape from the police (IIIT.251, 252) when he entered a home through an unlocked screen door, without permission, (IIIT.184), closing the main door behind him. (IIIT.187). Petitioner closed the blinds (IIIT.162, 189) and two witnesses said he removed braids from his hair. (IIIT.162, 173). Speaking in a calm voice, Petitioner told everybody to be quiet. (IIIT.184, 188). Eleven year old Toni Balcom testified that Petitioner told his sisters to "shut up or I'll stab you," (IIIT.150), which was confirmed (IIIT.192) by witness Antoinette Casey, fiance of the owner who testified Petitioner said "I'll give you \$5 or I'll start stabbing everybody." (IIIT.193, 196). Petitioner had no knife, and testified he said, "I would give you \$5. Can I stay in here." (IIIT.246).

The owner/occupant of the home, Anthony Hardy, asked Petitioner what was going on, to which Petitioner replied "like he was ashamed" that he stolen a car. (IIIT.184). Hardy testified Petitioner asked him if Petitioner could stay at the house for five

dollars (IIIT.185, 188), and Hardy told him he could stay without paying. (IIIT.185). However, at trial Hardy said he gave permission because he didn't know if Petitioner was armed or what he would do, (IIIT.184-185, 190), and while he gave Petitioner permission to stay, (IIIT.188), he did not really want Petitioner in his house. (IIIT.190). Petitioner testified that after a couple of minutes, Hardy said there was too much going on and that Petitioner would have to leave. (IIIT.247).

Hardy testified that while he and Petitioner were standing in the kitchen, officers came through his front door "saying, 'I know you ran in here.'" (IIIT.186). Antoinett Casey opened the door for the police, who entered the house with weapons drawn. (IIIT.193). Hardy said at that point, Petitioner tried to leave by the back door, the police were there, he tried to close the door, but they came in and arrested him. (IIIT.186). Petitioner testified he was trying to go out the door, but the police pushed it in and wrestled him to the ground. (IIIT.247).

Petitioner opened the back door¹ and peeked out as the officer who had been driving was running at the door and believing Petitioner was trying to escape, (IIT.125), put his foot in the door and pushed it in. (IIT.115)(IIIT.208). More officers² burst through the front door of the home. The officer who had been

¹ The driver who actually tackled Appellant said he peeked out the back door, and the passenger testified that he was arrested as he peeked out the front window (IIT.140) after the other officers forced the window open. (IIT.140).

² "[P]robably 15 other units" responded. (IT.115).

driving testified he "rassled" Petitioner to the ground at that time. (IIT.115). Petitioner, Mr. Hardy and the women and children of the household were held by police with guns to their heads for a short time. (IIIT.197-198). Mr. Hardy was handcuffed and taken for a short time. (IIIT.193, 197). Petitioner was arrested and transported from the scene. (IIIT.208, 213).

After being issued his Miranda warnings, (IIIT.149-151, 208), Petitioner made the following statements: that he saw the passenger in his rear view mirror as the passenger called on the police radio (IIIT.151); that the truck was not stolen, that it was borrowed in return for cocaine (IIIT.151); that his passenger had no knowledge that the truck was stolen (IIIT.209); and that he had rented the truck from a black male and a white male in exchange for \$30 worth of rock cocaine and was late returning the vehicle. (IIIT.209-210, 216, 253). Petitioner also said he knew the police "were onto him" when he saw the officer grab his radio microphone. (IIIT.210). As to ramming the police cruiser, he believed it occurred when he or his passenger accidently bumped the gear shift while trying to get out of their seat belts to run. (IIIT.210, 217-218). He also stated that the police car bumped him, (IIIT.211) but did not address the order in which the incident occurred. (IIIT.219). "He didn't say he put it in reverse, accelerated and rammed the police car purposely, no." (IIIT.218). Petitioner said he didn't want to get in trouble for anything else, and he denied having a knife. (IIIT.220).

Neither police officer was injured in the car/truck crash. (IIT.126)

amount of damage to police car / conviction reversed

The State's evidence as to the amount of damage to the police car came from officers, such as the driver who testified, "I'm not an expert on it. . . ." (IIT.116)(objection - speculation and improper testimony - overruled. At the motion for judgment of acquittal, the trial court opined that expert testimony was not needed to establish damages. (IIIT.237).

The Second District Court of Appeal disagreed and found that the "State failed to show that these officers had any particular knowledge of the value of their police cruiser, or the cost of repairs for that cruiser. Likewise, the State failed to qualify the reconstruction expert as an expert on damages and the cost of repairs." The court then opined that assessing a monetary figure for damages requires "special knowledge, skill, experience, or training" and the State failed to present testimony from such a qualified witness. (A.1-4). The conviction was ordered reduced to a second degree misdemeanor.

evidence as to the distance police were following Petitioner and to the timing of the crash

State's witness, Erica Riley, a bystander, testified that the police car was "right up behind" Petitioner's truck; "cop car is usually not that close behind a car." (sic)(IIT.99, 102). She testified they heard a bang, and she guessed the "cop car crashed right behind it because that's how close it was," and "we were all looking and the cop car started... going backward." (IIT.99-100). She was not looking until she heard the bang, (IIT.100), however she heard no tires screeching before the "bang," (IIT.103), nor did

she hear any tires screeching at all. (IIT.103).

Another State's witness, 14 year old Toni Hardy saw the purple truck back into the police car. (IIIT.159-160, 169, 171). However, on cross-examination she indicated she did not turn and look at the truck until after hearing a bang, (IIIT.164), then said it was after hearing the screeching noise, (IIIT.165), and then she saw the truck backing toward the police car. (IIIT.164-165).

Eleven year old witness Rico Belcom indicated he saw the truck stop and back into the police car. (IIIT.176).

The officer who was driving the police cruiser which was involved in the crash, testified he was driving 30 to 40 feet behind Petitioner, closed to 10 to 15 feet after the last turn, and was 25 to 30 feet behind the truck when it went into reverse. (IIT.110-111, 119)(also IIIT.137, 143). The driver testified he did not hit the truck first, (IIT.122) and he put the cruiser in park during the crash. (IIT.113). He specifically testified he did not put the car into drive to try and push the truck forward. (IIT.122-123).

The police passenger testified that the truck stopped and they stopped 20 feet behind it before it went into reverse and hit them. (IIIT.138). He also testified that the cruiser did not hit the truck first, (IIIT.146), and that the driver was giving the car more gas to keep from being pushed back. (IIIT.138). The officer speculated that Petitioner rammed them because he was trying to deploy the air bags and disable the police car, and that he was not sure Petitioner intended to hurt them. (IIIT.152).

The State presented an accident reconstruction expert who testified that the truck backed up 9 feet 8 inches before striking the police cruiser, which then pushed the truck back forward two feet. (IIIT.225-226).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The State failed to prove the elements of aggravated battery on either of the officers, where it only proved that Petitioner's truck hit their cruiser. Neither officer was injured and whether or not the collision was intentional, the law is clear that the touching involved in one car striking another car is not enough to support a conviction for even simple battery - on a law enforcement officer or anyone else. Where an automobile is involved, it must take more than a mere touching or even minor impact to the exterior of the victim's automobile to justify a conviction for battery on its occupant.

Section 775.082(8), Florida Statues (1997) is unconstitutional on the following seven grounds: (1) the statute violates the single subject provisions of Article III, Section 6, of the Florida Constitution; (2) the statute violates separation of powers under Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution; (3) the statute violates the cruel and/or unusual punishment provisions contained in the Eighth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution, and Article I, Section 17, of the Florida Constitution; (4) the statute is void for vagueness under both the state and federal constitutions; (5) the statute violates the due process clauses of both the state and constitutions; federal (6) the statute violates protection clauses of both the state and federal constitutions; and (7) the statute's retroactive application to one who was released from prison prior to its effective date violates ex post facto provisions of the state and federal constitutions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO GRANT A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER, WHERE THE LAW IS SUCH THAT THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A CONVICTION? (CERTIFIED CONFLICT)

JURISDICTION

In this case, the Second District Court of Appeal has certified conflict with the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Williamson v. State</u>, 510 So. 2d 335 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), <u>disapproved on other grounds</u>, <u>State v. Sanborn</u>, 533 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1988). Furthermore, the Second District expressly and directly rejected the reasoning and findings of law held by the Fourth District in Williamson.

Fla. R. App. Proc. 9.030(a)(2)(A) grants discretionary jurisdiction to this Court to review cases: (iv) in which a decision of a district court of appeal expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same question of law; or

(vi) are certified to be in direct conflict with decision of other district courts of appeal

In this case, the Second District has certified the conflict -a procedure available under Article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution - and the decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Fourth District in <u>Williamson</u>. Thus, this Court has the discretionary jurisdiction to hear this issue, and is asked to hear this issue and resolve the conflict.³

³ <u>Clark v. State</u>, 246 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) has also been certified as to the conflict with <u>Williamson</u>. Thus,

ARGUMENT AS TO ISSUE

Petitioner was convicted of two counts (counts 2 and 3) of aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer with a deadly weapon (a motor vehicle). It is clear that the only battery this issue concerns was the collision of Petitioner's truck and the police cruiser occupied by two officers. The state argued at trial:

...the defendant intentionally, deliberately, rammed those police officers with his car.

(IIIT.261). However, the State's argument was incorrect, because Petitioner did not ram the "police officers" - he rammed their car. The instruction to the jury is clear, Petitioner must have struck or touched the officers (IIIT.297-299) - but the evidence is equally clear - his vehicle struck their vehicle. The law in Florida under Williamson is that that act was not a battery by law: such a "touching" is not sufficient to sustain a conviction for battery because the car is not sufficiently intimate to the officers like a cane or clothing. More than simple contact is necessary to sustain a battery conviction under such circumstances.

Petitioner moved for judgment of acquittal in regard to aggravated battery on the two law enforcement officers (Counts 2 and 3) on the grounds that no intent to batter was shown, and that neither officer was injured. (IIIT.237-238)(Denied at IIIT.238). The motion was renewed at the end of evidence (IIIT.258) and again denied. (IIIT.259). This issue was again raised in Petitioner's

jurisdiction may also be had under <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

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