## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

REGINALD WINGFIELD,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. SC00-250

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM
THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

## RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS Senior Assistant Attorney General Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa Florida Bar No. 238538

# SUSAN D. DUNLEVY Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 229032 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2367 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal correctly affirmed the trial court's denial of Petitioner's motion for judgment of acquittal on the charges of aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer. The victims' interest in the integrity of their persons includes all those things which are in contact or connected with it, and they were certainly both in contact with the cruiser they occupied. The Fourth District case upon which Petitioner relies itself relies upon a Second District opinion which does not support the Fourth District's holding and which actually cites two cases from other states which hold to the contrary.

The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act does not violate the single subject rule, the separation of powers doctrine, proscriptions against cruel and unusual punishment, due process requirements, equal protection requirements, or proscriptions against ex post facto laws, and it is not unconstitutionally vague. Accordingly, the Act is constitutional.

#### **ARGUMENT**

ISSUE I: THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT Petitioner'S CONVICTIONS OF AGGRAVATED BATTERY ON A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER.

#### JURISDICTION

Respondent agrees that this Court has jurisdiction to review this issue pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and (vi), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

#### ARGUMENT ON THE MERITS

Petitioner argues that the striking of one motor vehicle with another does not constitute a battery, either simple or aggravated, of any occupant of the struck vehicle, relying on Williamson. The Williamson panel cited only one case, the Second District's opinion in Malczewski v. State, 444 So. 2d 1096 (Fla. 2d DCA), appeal dismissed, 453 So. 2d 44 (Fla. 1984), as support for its holding on this issue. However, the Williamson panel obviously did not review the out of state cases cited in Malczewski at 1099: Two of those cases, State v. Sudderth, 184 N.C. 753, 114 S.E. 828 (1922), and Huffman v. State, 200 Tenn. 487, 292 S.W. 2d 738 (1956), overruled in part, State v. Irvin, 603 S.W. 2d 121 (Tenn. 1980)<sup>1</sup>, hold contra to Williamson on the precise question in issue sub judice, and none

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Irvin overruled Huffman on the question of whether a defendant could be convicted of multiple counts of homicide or battery where he intentionally struck only one car carrying multiple occupants. Huffman answered this question in the negative, but Irvin reconsidered this issue and answered the question in the affirmative.

of them agrees with the Williamson holding. Sudderth also addresses Petitioner's argument that the officers were "hardly jostled" by the impact:

While in the instant case the prosecutor was not thrown entirely from the car, nor struck in any part of his body, the physical jar necessarily produced by the collision described in evidence, caused by the unlawful use at the time, of defendant's car, is clearly sufficient as stated to justify a conviction for assault and battery.

Here there was an impact sufficient to cause 114 S.E. at 830. \$1100 worth of damage to the truck and approximately \$1500 worth of damage to the police cruiser. Under these circumstances, as in Sudderth, the physical jar necessarily produced by the collision sufficient to justify Petitioner's aggravated battery convictions despite the officers' having been fortunate enough not to have sustained any significant injury. Respondent would note that the victim in Malczewski was no more physically injured than the police officers were in the instant case. As the Second District there noted, citing Dean William Prosser's hornbook discussion of the tort of battery, an individual's "'interest in the integrity of his person includes all those things which are in contact or connected with it.' W. Prosser, Law of Torts Sec. 9 at 34 (4th ed. 1971)." The victims here were both in contact with their vehicle, and at least one of them, the driver, was holding it (by the steering wheel).

Respondent submits that the Fourth District's holding on this

issue was ill considered, not being supported even by the well-reasoned authority it cited, and should not be followed by this Court.

The concession made by the State in *Parrish v. State*, 589 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), an unrelated case, is not binding upon the State for all time, and the State refuses to follow that concession in the instant case, even assuming arguendo that the facts in that case, which are not discussed at all in the *Parrish* opinion, are similar to those in this case.

The First District reached the same conclusion in Clark v. State, 746 So. 2d 1237 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), as did the Second District below. It is true that the impact in Clark occurred at a speed of 25-35 mph, as did the impact in Sudderth, whereas Petitioner's speed at impact here was estimated at only 15 mph. However, regardless of the speed at impact, Petitioner's truck actually pushed the officers' cruiser backwards. Accordingly, Petitioner's argument that the ramming of the officers' cruiser does not constitute a battery merely because neither of them was injured makes no more sense than would the argument that shoving someone and propelling him backwards in the process does not constitute a battery merely because the shoving victim did not suffer physical injury. Neither Sudderth, Clark, nor State v. Townsend, 124 Idaho 881, 865 P. 2d 972 (1993), upon which Petitioner relies, held or even suggested that sufficient impact

must be made to actually harm the victim if the victim is inside a car. Moreover, while Sudderth and Townsend do not expressly state whether or not the victims were injured as a result of the defendants' vehicles striking their cars, Clark does note that there was no evidence that either of the victims was injured. And in Espinoza v. Thomas, 189 Mich. App. 110, 472 N.W. 2d 16 (1991), upon which Petitioner additionally relies, the victim apparently suffered no physical injury, and the court placed no reliance whatsoever on the mental distress suffered by the victim in its analysis of the battery issue; rather, the court held that "if all other requisites of a battery against the plaintiff are satisfied, contact with the car the plaintiff occupies is sufficient to establish a battery." 189 Mich. App. at 119, 472 N.W. 2d 21.

ISSUE II: THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

### JURISDICTION

Respondent agrees that this Court has jurisdiction to review this issue pursuant to its holding in  $Jollie\ v.\ State$ , 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981).

## ARGUMENT ON THE MERITS

Petitioner attacks the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act, hereinafter referred to as the "Act," on several constitutional grounds. Each will be addressed separately.

# Single Subject Violation

The Act does not violate the single subject requirement of the Florida Constitution. This argument has already been rejected by the Fourth District in *Young v. State*, 719 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). As the court stated in *Young*:

Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, in addition to adding section 775.082(8), also amended sections 944.705, 947.141, 948.06, 948.01 and 958.14. The preamble to the legislation states that its purpose was to impose stricter punishment on reoffenders to protect society. Because each amended section dealt in some fashion with reoffenders, we conclude that the statute meets that test.

Id. at 1012.

The single subject requirement of Article III, Section 6 of the Florida Constitution simply requires that there be "a natural or logical connection" between the various portions of the legislative enactment. Similarly, this Court has spoken of the need for a "cogent relationship" between the various sections of the enactment. Bunnell v. State, 453 So. 2d 808, 809 (Fla. 1984) (Fla. 1984). However, "wide latitude must be accorded the legislature in the enactment of laws" and a court should "strike down a statute only when there is a plain violation of the constitutional requirement that each enactment be limited to a single subject...." State v. Lee, 356 So. 2d 276, 282 (Fla. 1978). "The act may be as broad as the legislature chooses provided the matters included in the act have a natural or logical connection."

Martinez v. Scanlan, 582 So. 2d 1167, 1172 (Fla. 1991). "[T]he test of duplicity of subject is whether or not the provisions of the bill are designed to accomplish separate and disassociated objects of legislative effort." Burch v. State, 558 So. 2d 1, 2 (Fla. 1990), quoting State v. Thompson, 120 Fla. 860, 892-93, 163 So. 270, 283 (1935).

A careful reading of the provisions of Chapter 97-239, Laws of Florida, compels the conclusion that the requisite natural or logical connection between the various sections exists. All of the amendments contained in Chapter 97-239 deal with the release, recapture, and resentencing of convicted felons, regardless of the type of release.

Sections 1 and 2 of Chapter 97-239 created the "Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act" by adding a new subsection between old subsections (7) and (8) and renumbering so that the old subsection (8) became subsection (9). Section 3 of Chapter 97-239 added subsection (6) to Section 944.705, Florida Statutes (1997), which new subsection requires that inmates released from prison be given notice of Section 775.082(8). This amendment relates directly to the implementation of Section 775.082(8) and clearly does not violate the single subject rule. Section 4 of Chapter 97-239 amended section 947.141(6) to make mandatory the forfeiture of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The 1998 Legislature added yet another new subsection 8 and renumbered the remaining sections, so that the subsection in issue here is subsection (9) in the 1998 version of Section 775.082.

all gain time or the commutation of time for good conduct earned by a state prisoner while on control or conditional release upon revocation of the conditional or control release for a violation of the terms thereof. This amendment is also clearly related to the subject of released prison inmates. Section 5 of Chapter 97-239 amended section 948.06(1) to allow any law enforcement officer aware of the probationary or community control status of offender, as well as the offender's probation or community control officer, to arrest such offender if the law enforcement officer has reasonable grounds to believe that the offender has violated his or her probation or community control, and it amended section 948.06(6) to make mandatory the forfeiture of all gain time or the commutation of time for good conduct earned by a state prisoner while on probation, community control, or control release upon revocation of the probation, community control, or control release. Finally, Section 6 of Chapter 97-239 simply reenacts section 958.14 and two subsections of section 948.01, which deal with probation and community control. When an offender is on probation or community control, he is released from or avoids going to prison under certain conditions. Thus, Sections 5 and 6 of Chapter 97-239 also deal with the release of offenders and do not violate the single subject rule.

Chapter 97-239 is a means by which the Legislature attempted to protect society from those who commit crime and are released

into society. The means by which this subject was accomplished involved amendments to several statutes. The fact that several different statutes are amended does not mean that more than one subject is involved. *Burch*, 558 So. 2d at 3.

The interrelated nature of the different provisions of 97-239 presents a situation which is highly analogous to that which was addressed by this Court in Burch. Chapter 97-243, Laws of Florida, dealt with many disparate areas of criminal law, which fell into three broad areas: 1) comprehensive criminal regulations and procedures; 2) money laundering; and 3) safe neighborhoods. Burch, 558 So. 2d at 3. All of those provisions were deemed to bear "a logical relationship to the single subject of controlling crime, whether by providing for imprisonment or through taking away the profits of crime and promoting education and safe neighborhoods." This court stated, "There is nothing in this act to suggest the presence of log rolling, which is the evil that article III, section 6, is intended to prevent. In fact, it would have been awkward and unreasonable to attempt to enact many of the provisions of this act in separate legislation." Id. If anything, the connection between the provisions of the act in the instant case is considerably clearer, without having to resort to such broad links as the regulation of crime.

Yet another case providing a strong analogy is *Smith v. Dep't* of *Insurance*, 507 So. 2d 1080 (Fla. 1987), where numerous disparate

legislative provisions regarding tort reform and insurance law were deemed not to violate the single subject rule. This Court applied a common sense test, rejecting claims that laws dealing with both tort and contractual causes of action could not be addressed in the same legislation. *Id.* at 1087.

In contrast, in one of the cases in which the single subject requirement was held to have been violated, *State v. Johnson*, 616 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1993), there was no logical connection between career criminal sentencing and the licensing laws for private investigators who repossess motor vehicles. *Id.* at 4. Likewise, in *Bunnell*, there was no connection between the creation of a new substantive offense—obstruction of law enforcement by false information—and the amendment of the statutes governing the Florida Council on Criminal Justice. *Bunnell*, 453 So. 2d at 809.

The common sense test applied by this Court in other cases is clearly satisfied in this case.

## Separation of Powers

Petitioner's assertion that the Act violates the separation of powers doctrine has been rejected by the First, Third, and Fifth District Courts of Appeal in Woods v. State, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); McKnight v. State, 727 So. 2d 314 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999); Speed v. State, 732 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999); and Gray v. State, 742 So. 2d 805 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999). It is well established that the decision to charge and prosecute for crimes is

within the discretion of the prosecutor. Cleveland v. State, 417 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 1982). In Stone v. State, 402 So. 2d 1330 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), the court rejected a separation of powers argument from a defendant who sought to reduce his sentence by providing substantial assistance but was refused the opportunity to do so by the prosecutor.

In Crews v. State, 366 So. 2d 117 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), the court rejected a separation of powers argument raised by a defendant who was prosecuted under a state statute instead of a municipal ordinance. The court, recognizing the differences in the possible penalties, remarked that such discretion is inherent in our system of justice, as is the discretion to prosecute an offender under the age of 18 as a juvenile or as an adult, and does not violate the separation of powers doctrine. Id. at 119.

Petitioner's position is no different than that of any other person accused of a crime. The prosecutor decides under which statute to proceed, to whom plea bargains should be extended, and which penalty to seek. These acts are inherent in our system of justice. However, the fact that a prosecutor seeks punishment of a given defendant under Section 775.082(8) does not mean that such punishment is automatic. The prosecutor must still satisfy the trial court that the defendant meets the statutory criteria set forth in Section 775.082(8)(a)(1).

As is true in first degree murder cases wherein the State

declines to seek the death penalty, by virtue of the choices provided by the legislature (minimum mandatory sentences), the trial court sometimes has no discretion in sentencing upon conviction because of the minimum mandatory sentence. Owens v. State, 316 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1975). The length of a defendant's sentence is a matter of legislative prerogative. Leftwich v. State, 589 So. 2d 385 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). It is exclusively the legislative domain to determine the penalties for crimes. State v. Zardon, 406 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

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